
Jo Miller
Chief Executive
___________________________________________________________________
Issued on:  Wednesday 6th March 2019

Governance Services Officer for this Meeting: Jonathan Goodrum
Tel. 01302 736709

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council
www.doncaster.gov.uk

Agenda
___________________________________________________________________

To all Members of the

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Notice is given that a Meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board is to be held 
as follows:

 
Venue    Room 007a and b - Civic Office, Waterdale, Doncaster, DN1 3BU

Date:      Thursday, 14th March, 2019

Time:     9.00 a.m.*

*PLEASE NOTE EARLIER START TIME FOR THIS MEETING
___________________________________________________________________

Items Time/
Lead

1.  Welcome, introductions and apologies for absence. 2 mins
(Chair)

2.  Chair's Announcements.  5 mins
(Chair)

3.  To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press are to be 
excluded from the meeting.  

1 min
(Chair)

4.  Public questions.

(A period not exceeding 15 minutes for questions from members of the 
public.)

15 mins
(Chair)

Public Document Pack



5. Declarations of Interest, if any.  1 min
(Chair)

6.  Minutes of the Meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held 
on 17th January 2019 
(Attached – pages 1 – 8)

Board Development

3 mins
(Chair)

7.  Report from Health and Wellbeing Board Steering Group and 
Forward Plan.
(Paper attached – pages 9 – 20)

Delivery of Health and Wellbeing Strategy

10 mins
(Dr Rupert Suckling)

8.  Outcomes Framework - Deep Dive:  Dementia.
(Presentation/Cover Sheet attached – pages 21 – 22)

20 mins
(Stephen Emmerson/

Louise Robson)

9.  Outcomes Framework - Deep Dive:  Learning Disability and 
Autism Strategy.
(Presentation/Cover Sheet attached – pages 23 – 24)

Board Assurance

20 mins
(Jayne Gilmour)

10.  Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018.
(Paper attached – pages 25 – 50)

10 mins
(Dr Rupert Suckling)

11.  Health and Care Update.
(Presentation/Cover Sheet attached – pages 51 – 52)

Developments and Risk Areas

30 mins
(Cath Doman/
Damian Allen)

12.  Anti-Poverty Update.
(Paper attached – pages 53 – 68)

15 mins
(Paul Tanney)

Date/time of next meeting:  Thursday, 13 June 2019 at 9.30 am
Venue: Room 007a and b - Civic Office, Waterdale, Doncaster, DN1 3BU



Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Chair – Councillor Rachael Blake – Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care 
Vice-Chair – Dr David Crichton, Chair of Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group

Councillor Nigel Ball Portfolio Holder for Public Health, Leisure and Culture
Councillor Nuala Fennelly Portfolio Holder for Children, Young People and Schools
Councillor Cynthia Ransome DMBC Conservative Group Representative
Dr. Rupert Suckling Director of Public Health, Doncaster Council
Kathryn Singh Chief Executive of Rotherham, Doncaster and South 

Humber NHS Foundation Trust (RDaSH)
Steve Shore Chair of Healthwatch Doncaster 
Karen Curran Head of Co-Commissioning NHS England (Yorkshire and 

Humber)
Richard Parker Chief Executive of Doncaster and Bassetlaw Teaching 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Damien Allen Interim Director of People, DMBC
Jackie Pederson Chief Officer, Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group
Chief Superintendent 
Shaun Morley

District Commander for Doncaster, South Yorkshire Police

Paul Tanney Chief Executive, St. Leger Homes of Doncaster
Steve Helps Head of Prevention and Protection, South Yorkshire Fire 

and Rescue
Paul Moffat Chief Executive of Doncaster Children’s Services Trust
Peter Dale Director of Regeneration and Environment, Doncaster 

Council
Laura Sherburn Chief Executive, Primary Care Doncaster
Lucy Robertshaw Assistant Director darts, Doncaster Community Arts 

(Health and Social Care Forum representative)



This page is intentionally left blank



DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

THURSDAY, 17TH JANUARY, 2019 
 
A  MEETING of the HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD was held at ST 
CATHERINE'S HOUSE, BALBY on THURSDAY, 17TH JANUARY, 2019, at 9.30 am. 
 
PRESENT:  

 

Vice-Chair - Dr David Crichton, Chair of Doncaster CCG (In the Chair) 

 

Councillor Nigel Ball                 Portfolio Holder for Public Health, Leisure & Culture   
Councillor Nuala Fennelly        Portfolio Holder for Schools, Children & Young People 
Councillor Cynthia Ransome   Conservative Party Representative 
Dr Rupert Suckling                   Director of Public Health, Doncaster Council 
Damian Allen                            Director Of People (DCS/DASS) Doncaster Council 
Jackie Pederson                      Chief Officer, Doncaster CCG 
Steve Helps                              Head of Prevention & Protection, SYFR 

  Richard Parker                         Chief Executive, Doncaster Bassetlaw Teaching                            
Foundation Trust 

Rosie Johnson                         Director of Workforce & OD and  Deputy CEO, RDaSH 
Mark Douglas                           Chief Operating Officer, DCST 
Lucy Robertshaw                     Assistant Director, DARTS 
 

 

 
 

Also In Attendance: 
 
Dr Victor Joseph Public Health Consultant 
Dr Shazia Ahmed Public Health Specialist 
Helen Conroy DMBC Public Health Consultant 
Stephen Emmerson Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group 
Andy Pattinson Senior Manager, Strategy and Performance 
 

37 WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from the Chair, Councillor Rachael Blake, Kathryn 
Singh, (Rosie Johnson deputised), Steve Shore, Laura Sherburn, Peter Dale, Paul Tanney, 
Superintendent Shaun Morley and Paul Moffat (Mark Douglas deputised). 

 
38 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
The Vice Chair, Dr Crichton conveyed the Board’s congratulations to Richard Parker, Chief 
Executive of Doncaster & Bassetlaw Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, on being 
awarded an OBE for services to sustainable care in the Queen’s New Year’s Honours List. 
 

39 PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 
There were no public questions asked at the meeting. 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



 

40 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY 
 
There were no declarations of interest  made at the meeting. 

 
41 MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD HELD 

ON 15TH NOVEMBER 2018 
 
The Board’s attention was drawn to the Public Question at the last meeting, and those 
members who had not yet provided Mr Tim Brown with the relevant information on Workforce 
Diversity were urged to do so. 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board, held 
on Thursday 15th November, 2018, be approved as a true record and signed by the 
Chair. 

 
42 REPORT FROM HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD STEERING GROUP AND 

FORWARD PLAN  
 
Members considered a report that provided an update with regard to the work of the Steering 
Group in delivering the Board’s work programme, and also provided a draft Forward Plan for 
the Board to work to. 
 
A number of updates were provided to Board on the following issues that had been discussed 
by the Steering Group since the last formal meeting, with some focus placed on the following: 
 
The NHS Long-term Plan 
 
In terms of this, the Board were informed that work was now being undertaken, in order to 
ensure that a local plan for 2019/20 was published by April 2019, with a 5 year plan available 
by autumn. A joint strategy was being developed and more information on this would be 
available at a future meeting. 

 
Gambling 
 
With regard to gambling, it was noted that greater support was now being made available to 
younger gamblers, and the Young Gamblers Education Trust, was offering training to ensure 
that staff dealing with young gamblers had the adequate tools to address the issue. 

 
Well North / Well Doncaster 
 
The Annual Report was attached to the agenda papers which provided an update of all work 
undertaken during 2017/18. Progress was being made, and the Place Plan was being 
embedded to bring about further improvements. 

 
New Mental Health Support in schools and colleges, with faster access to NHS Care 
 
This was an issue on which a number of comments were made during the course of the 
discussion, with Members welcoming this support. Councillor Fennelly particularly, was 
pleased to see this as she commented that it seemed that mental health problems were 
emerging at an early age more and more, and it was imperative that there was adequate 
support in schools. The Board were informed that Doncaster had driven the national agenda 
with regard to this issue and were looking to build on this success more and more. There were 
currently 7 CAMHS workers and with this initiative there would now be an additional 14 which 
was a huge support to children and young people. 

 
The minutes of the SY&B Shadow Integrated Care System Collaborative Partnership Board 
Meeting held on 19 October, 2018 were attached for the Board’s information, along with a 

Page 2



 

Forward Plan for the Health and Wellbeing Board that plotted in the different work streams 
they would be looking at in the coming year, and would be updated as and when required. 
 

RESOLVED that the Board noted the update received from the Steering Group and 
agreed the Forward Plan attached at Appendix A to the report. 

 
 

43 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK 2018-21:  CANCER 
UPDATE  
 
Further to discussions held at November’s Health and Wellbeing Board, a paper was 
presented to the Board along with a presentation, which provided an update on the work to 
address the challenge of cancer within the Borough. 
 
Cancer, as a disease, was increasing year on year and for anyone born after the year 1960, it 
would affect 1 in 2 people, with over 200 different types of cancers affecting individuals, their 
lives and their families, in differing ways with varying outcomes. 
 
Whilst the number of people affected by cancer was higher than ever, Members noted that the 
number of people surviving, was also higher, with more people being diagnosed at an earlier 
stage with upwardly improving outcomes. The Board were informed that there was a much 
greater awareness now of factors which could contribute to the cause of cancer, including 
smoking, obesity, alcohol, as well as living healthy lifestyles, and avoiding sun damage or 
other carcinogens. Additionally, there were preventative measures such as the HPV Vaccine 
offered to young girls which could offer protection against illnesses that could later change into 
cancer. 
 
Whilst screening was a relatively new initiative, and the tests were not undertaken specifically 
to detect cancer, they could be used to diagnose changes that may lead to cancer at a later 
stage and were therefore a useful tool. 
 
There was a lot of work being done across Doncaster, and the ‘Be Cancer Safe’ scheme was 
doing a lot of work in raising awareness in people with regard to noting signs and symptoms, 
as well as highlighting the access to screening which would increase the number of people 
diagnosed at an earlier stage. Additionally, there were currently 2811 cancer champions 
across Doncaster who would use their experience and knowledge to support those with 
Cancer and it was hoped that more would be recruited in the future. 
 
New ways of working were being developed all the time, with different pathways created and 
explored, and improvements continually being made and the NHS Long-term Plan had a 
number of actions it was working towards including the following:- 
 

 75% diagnosis at an early stage from 2028 

 Rapid diagnostic centres 

 Lung health checks and low dose CT scans 

 Faster diagnosis, with 28 day targets 

 Genome testing for all cancer patients, starting with children 

 New radiotherapy proton beam facilities 
 
Following what was a very informative and in-depth presentation, the Chair invited any 
questions or comments from the members of the Board. A brief discussion ensued where 
Members asked for any clarity on any of the points, figures or statements contained within the 
documents presented. 
 

RESOLVED that the Health and Wellbeing Board note the report and accompanying 
presentation with regard to Cancer Updates 

 

Page 3



 

44 PREVENTION CONCORDAT FOR BETTER MENTAL HEALTH AND MENTAL 
HEALTH ADULTS IMPROVEMENT PLAN  
 
Members considered a presentation that proposed the bringing together of a number of 
actions which would look to improve mental health services for people in Doncaster. The 
proposed Improvement Plan was not a replacement of the individual plans currently in place, 
but complementary to, and would bring together a more joined up approach of working over a 
five year period. 
 
The work undertaken would look to provide patients with the tools for better self-management, 
earlier identification of their deteriorating mental health and the access to support for coping 
with, and recovering from mental illness. 
 
The Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health was a national consensus statement that 
would look to transform the health system by increasing the focus on prevention of mental 
health. By ensuring that there was more joined up way of working and commissioning, it would 
allow for a more holistic approach, which would not only focus on people’s needs but also 
recognise the determinants that affected mental wellbeing. The seven points of the Concordat 
were outlined in depth during the course of the presentation, with the Board asked to support 
this by endorsing the concordat through the agreement and signing of it by the Chair or 
Director of Public Health. 
 
The Plan organised across several themes, which aimed to make it accessible, concise and 
easy to read:- 
 

 Living Well – Community led support and low level early intervention 

 Access to appropriate services  

 Holistic Care and Support 

 People with Complex / bespoke needs 

 Suicide Prevention 
 
There would also be information relating to outcomes and needs, and governance and assets 
aspects, all of which would be integral to the delivery of the Mental Health Improvement Plan. 
The Plan would be a live document and would be updated on a regular basis to ensure it was 
developed and monitored accordingly. 
 
Members were supportive of the approach, particularly in relation to the elements relating to 
children and families, as there often proved to be gaps in providing the support needed to 
children coming from troubled homes. It was a piece of work that would transition gradually, 
and although a lot of work was still needed the Board was hopeful this would happen with 
greater joined up working. Members commented that the focus on prevention was key, as it 
was important to look at the roots of mental health and they were continually learning from the 
work carried out in relation to the complex lives agenda in working towards more successful 
ways of dealing with family rooted issues. 
 
There was acknowledgement that whilst prevention was key, the bigger picture was a huge 
challenge and joint commissioning and better partnership working was needed in order that 
the mental health agenda could be driven forward. 
 
Members were happy to support the Concordat and Mental Health Improvement Plan, and 
were assured that their concerns would be noted, and as the document would be a live 
document, it could be adapted and moved forward when changes were needed. 
 

RESOLVED that the Board endorsed the Better Mental Health Improvement Plan for 
Adults and support the Director of Public Health and/or the Chair of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to sign the Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health on behalf 
of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 

Page 4



 

45 HEALTH PROTECTION ANNUAL REPORT  
 
A presentation was given by Dr Victor Joseph and Dr Shazia Ahmed, which gave an overview 
of the progress made on addressing health protection matters in Doncaster. 
 
Health Protection was a key issue and one of the main contributing factors to improving the 
long term health of the people in Doncaster by ensuring services were in place to prevent a 
number of different illnesses and diseases, as well as ensuring that environmental problems 
such as air quality were addressed in order to alleviate issues that could later lead to serious 
health problems. 
 
A number of key actions were highlighted during the course of the presentation in order to 
provide more information to Members, these being as follows:- 
 
Air Quality:- 
 
There had been a piece of joint work undertaken between Doncaster Council’s Public Health 
and Environmental Health, with the Air Quality Steering Group working on  a number of 
issues, which resulted in the production of a refreshed Air Quality Action Plan.  
 
Seasonal influenza:- 
 
It was reported that analysis had been undertaken by the Public Health Team to determine 
how the uptake of flu vaccination could be improved in order to protect the health of the 
residents of Doncaster. It was noted that there had been a targeted drive of the flu vaccination 
within Doncaster’s care homes and this had helped towards the achievement of 77% of 
Doncaster’s population living in care homes taking up the vaccine offer. The target set 
nationally, was currently 75%, so in terms of that, Doncaster had shown good progress. 
However, work was still being undertaken in order to ascertain the differences between people 
living in different areas across the Borough. 
 
MMR Vaccine:- 
 
Analysis of the uptake of the MMR vaccine had been carried out across different areas and 
GP Practices across Doncaster in order to identify the areas where the uptake of the second 
dose was lower in order to address this problem. This would look to alleviate potential 
outbreaks or epidemics of Mumps, Measles or Rubella, all of which could result in serious 
health complications. 
 
Tobacco Control:- 
 
This was a key area of work for Public Health, and the vision was to eventually create a 
Smoke free generation in Doncaster. This however, was a long-term goal, and currently the 
target was looking more specifically to reduce smoking rates from 19.8% to 10% or less by 
2022. A number of key themes were being worked on to achieve this, with the introduction of 
smoke free environments, training on the risks of smoking, Support for smokers trying to stop 
and the effective enforcement of smoking in smoke free places and the sale of illicit 
substances which were both cheaper and more harmful. 
 
The Board was also provided with updates in terms of screening and immunisation, and a 
number of figures were provided on these, as well as the issues raised above, for Members to 
consider. 
 
Following the presentation, the Chair afforded Members of the Board the opportunity to ask 
any questions of the officers relating to the issues raised. 
 
One of the main areas of discussion raised by the Board was in relation to tobacco control and 
the aim to reduce smoking rates.  There was the need to ensure that the message across all 

Page 5



 

health partners was the same, with consistency applied. It was welcomed that a smoke free 
Doncaster was being worked towards. It was noted that the frontage of the hospital was being 
changed to a smoke free area, and although patients and visitors would be able to vape, any 
smoking would be enforced.  
 
The Board welcomed the work being undertaken and in particular, were pleased to see the 
improvement in the uptake of vaccinations, particularly seasonal influenza. However, there 
was still room for improvement and the offer could potentially be opened to a wider audience, 
with people such as carers and home workers targeted in order to widen the net of people 
protected.  
 
The Chair thanked the Officers for the presentation, and welcomed the update, although it was 
noted that it would have been helpful to see the report in its entirety. However, the progress 
that had been reflected upon was pleasing, although a point to note, it was felt, was in relation 
to screening. Although it was classified as ‘green’, this figure had dropped, and it was 
important that it be acted upon before it fell into ‘amber’ in the future. 
 
 RESOLVED that:- 
 

1) The Health and Wellbeing Board note the progress made on addressing health 
protection matters in Doncaster; 
 

2) The recommendation to continue to work with local partners and to monitor 
immunisation update, in particular seasonal influenza vaccinations and MMR, be 
endorsed; 

 
3) The work of the Doncaster Active Travel Alliance be endorsed, acknowledging the 

importance of encouraging residents to cycle and walk short journeys;  
 

4) The work on tackling the reduction of smoking in Doncaster be endorsed; and 
 

5) The Health and Wellbeing Board endorse the work undertaken in monitoring and 
reporting on progress with regard to broader health protection functions in the 
Borough. 

 
46 DONCASTER SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18  

 
The Health and Wellbeing Board considered the Doncaster Safeguarding Children’s Board 
(DSCB) Annual Report for 2017/18. The report covered the work undertaken by the Board for 
the 2017/18 financial year and looked to identify any emerging themes for the first quarter of 
2018/19. 
 
As well as the Health and Wellbeing Board, it was noted that the report would be considered 
by the Mayor of Doncaster and the Chief Executive, as well as the Schools, Children and 
Young People Panel and the Children and Families Strategic Partnership Board who would all 
look to hold the DSCB to account when and where required. 
 
The report had been prepared by John Woodhouse, the new Chair of both DSCB and the 
Doncaster Adults Safeguarding Board (ASB) along with Rosie Faulkner, Board Manager. The 
report produced was now a lot more concise and streamlined, concentrating on the key points 
that the readers needed to know. Points mentioned included the following:- 
 

 Concerns relating to smoking in pregnancy; 

 Suicide in Young People; 

 Self-Harming and Mental Health Issues in Children and Young People; 

 Criminal Exploitation 

 Child Protection and CSE 

 Links between the DSCB and the ASB 

Page 6



 

 
A discussion followed on a number of the issues raised within the presentation, whereby the 
Board discussed these points in greater depth including what was being done in all elements 
of these points, this being prevention, protection, and future safeguarding. There were Sub-
Groups in place that would look at a number of issues and good work had been undertaken 
across the Board’s remit with many positives identified. For example, the Child Sexual 
Exploitation Group had now widened its remit to incorporate criminal exploitation, and were 
building on the good work they had done to date.  
 
 A number of key areas identified for the DSCB to look at in the coming year hoped to build on 
the progress made to date. These were outlined on page 66 of the report and would allow 
partners to remain focussed and work on improving practice. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board noted that the recent Ofsted inspection into Children’s 
Services judged the service to be good, which was clear evidence of the good work being 
undertaken to improve services for children, and whilst there were still many challenges 
ahead, these were offset by the many improvements that had been made.  
 

RESOLVED that the Health and Wellbeing Board note the key findings from the 
Doncaster Safeguarding Children’s Board. 

 
 

47 DELIVERING INCLUSIVE GROWTH THROUGH ANCHOR INSTITUTIONS  
 
The Board received a paper that proposed to develop the role of Anchor Institutions to 
develop Inclusive Growth in Doncaster, which was a result of the development of Doncaster’s 
new Inclusive Growth Strategy. This strategy had six rivers for growth and looked to capture 
core parts of the Doncaster Growing Together Plan that was already influencing inclusive 
growth. Therefore, this would look to improve the quality of place, improve skill, support 
business growth and ensure opportunity reached the borough’s most vulnerable people  
 
For each driver the role of Doncaster’s anchor institutions is highlighted and work was now 
underway to develop Doncaster’s approach in order to maximising the impact of anchor 
institutions on inclusive growth  by creating wider social value through their activities. One 
aspect of this was to utilise their purchasing power and commissioning processes in order to 
drive growth at a local level.  
 
Following the presentation of the paper, the Board were invited to comment on the proposals 
and put forward any suggestions of how this could be taken forward. 
 
The Board welcomed the Paper and it was felt that it was an issue that was certainly at the 
forefront of people’s minds and could be built upon. The appointment of Hall Cross School as 
England’s first ‘Foundation School for Health’ was highlighted as its contribution to this issue 
could be huge. This would see the school working with the local NHS provider to develop 
opportunities for students who wished to pursue a career in the health service. 
 
A number of other positive points were noted as part of the discussions that ensued, with Dr 
David Crichton and Jackie Pederson highlighting the proposal to appoint a workforce lead in 
terms of the ‘Grow your own’ work being undertaken, which would look to connect with local 
communities and promote the breadth of careers available within the health service. 
 
Additionally, the potential of being linked to the teaching hospital also opened up more 
avenues for the development, and transfer of knowledge and skills. 
 
A number of other potential areas to explore were highlighted, including utilising the 
Apprenticeship Levy, as there was the option that this could be used as a mechanism to 
enable Anchor Institutions by increasing its potential impact. 
 

Page 7



 

The Chair proposed that the next step in terms of moving this agenda forward, would be to 
present the proposals with regard to the roles of the anchor institutions, to the Doncaster 
Integrated Partnership, in order to allow for informal and dedicated discussions. 
 

RESOLVED that the discussions held by the Board with regard to the proposal to 
promote inclusive growth through anchor institutions be noted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIR:                                                       DATE:                       

Page 8



 

 
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Date: 14 March 2019 
 

Subject: Report of the Steering Group and Forward plan 

Presented by: Dr Rupert Suckling 

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision  

Recommendation to Full Council  

Endorsement  

Information x 

 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHW Strategy Areas of Focus Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol) x 

Mental Health  x 

Dementia x 

Obesity x 

Children and Families  x 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment x 

Finance 
 

Legal 
 

 

Equalities 
 

 

Other Implications (please list) 
 

 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

This report provides an update on Arts and Health, Research City and Recovery City. There has been 
no meeting of the South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw, Shadow Integrated Care System Collaborative 
Partnership Board since the Health and Wellbeing Board’s last meeting. It also provides a forward 
plan for the Board. 

 

Recommendations 

The Board is asked to:- 
  
NOTE the report, DISCUSS and AGREE the forward plan. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



www.doncaster.gov.uk 

 

 
 

To the Chair and Members of the HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD  

 
REPORT FROM THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD STEERING GROUP 
AND FORWARD PLAN 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update to the members of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board on the work of the Steering Group to deliver the 
Board’s work programme and also provides a draft forward plan for future 
Board meetings. 

 
EXEMPT REPORT 
 
2. N/A  

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3. That the Board RECEIVES the update from the Steering Group, and 

CONSIDERS and AGREES the proposed forward plan at Appendix A. 
 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
4. The work programme of the Health and Wellbeing Board has a significant 

impact on the health and wellbeing of the Doncaster population through the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, 
system management and any decisions that are made as a result of Board 
meetings. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 

5. At the first full Board meeting on 6th June 2013, Board members agreed that 
there would be a Health and Wellbeing Officer group to provide regular 
support and a limited support infrastructure to the Board. In March 2016 this 
support was changed to a steering group. 

The Steering group has had one meeting since the last Board in January 
2019. It is refocussing to ensure progress on the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and key Board priorities including health inequalities, 
loneliness/social isolation, oral health, the areas of focus (alcohol, obesity, 
dementia, and mental health) and prevention. Key updates include: 
 

Agenda Item No. 7 
Date:   14 March 2019                               

Page 11



Arts and Health 

The Arts & Health Project Board have secured investment for a sequence of 
pilot programmes to test how Arts on Prescription can work for Doncaster. 
The pilots focus on three health priorities: 
 

1. Improving wellbeing of adults with long term mental health conditions 
2. Improving levels of physical activity in older people 
3. Improving wellbeing of adults living with dementia and their carers 

 
National evidence demonstrates that arts and culture have a successful role 
to play in addressing these health priorities. The focus for our pilots is to find 
the most effective models for Doncaster.  
 
Partners from Arts & Culture and Health & Social Care have worked closely 
together to design the pilots and engage academic partners to evaluate 
success. Investment has come from Doncaster CCG and Public Health 
matching funds from Big Lottery, Spirit of 2012, Sport England and Arts 
Council England. 
 
Activity began last autumn with Dance On, a borough wide programme 
using dance to improve physical activity and reduce falls, specifically 
targeting older women. Dance On is part of a national pilot with One Dance 
UK, Yorkshire Dance and Leeds University.  
 
Over the spring and summer this year further pilots are beginning in 
Edlington, Askern and Mexborough with artists and other professionals from 
Cast, darts and Heritage Services working alongside primary and 
community care practitioners to support adults with long term mental health 
conditions.  
 
Our aim over the next two years is to gather the evidence and 
understanding needed to create scalable, sustainable models which can 
make arts on prescription available to residents across the borough. This is 
an ambitious target and Doncaster is one of a very few areas in the UK to be 
testing arts on prescription at this scale and breadth.  

 
 
Research City 
 
On the 8th February Doncaster hosted Prof Chris Whitty the Deputy Chief 
Medical Officer and chief scientific advisor to the Department of Health and 
Social Care together with his team. Prof Whitty was joined by the 
representatives from the Yorkshire and Humber Clinical Research Network 
and key local researchers. Over the course of the day we showcased work 
on offender health, community research approaches including adult social 
care, the opening of Community Clinical Research Facility at Rotherham 
Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust (RDaSH). The visit 
showed how Doncaster was ready to undertake a broad range of health and 
social research. The next development is to undertake a research 
prioritisation exercise and commence the process of submitting research 
bids either as part of a consortium or on our own. 

Page 12



 
 
Recovery City 
 
As a result of the presentation at the Board last year work has continued on 
Recovery Cities. This has included support to South Yorkshire Police on 
their approach to addressing Novel Psychoactive Substances (NPS) along 
with working closely with colleagues in Gothenburg and Vienna. The April 
Health and Wellbeing Board workshop will focus on this agenda and we will 
look to host an international learning event in August, immediately before 
the Recovery Games. 
 

South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Shadow Integrated Care System 
Collaborative Partnership Board 

There has been no meeting since the last Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
 
Forward Plan 
 
The Forward Plan for 2019 is presented for debate, discussion and 
agreement. 

 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
6. None 
 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
7. None  
 
 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 
 
8.  
 

 Outcomes Implications  
 Doncaster Working: Our vision is for 

more people to be able to pursue their 
ambitions through work that gives 
them and Doncaster a brighter and 
prosperous future; 

 

 Better access to good fulfilling work 

 Doncaster businesses are 
supported to flourish 

  Inward Investment 
 

 
The Health and Wellbeing Board 
will contribute to this priority  

 Doncaster Living: Our vision is for 
Doncaster’s people to live in a 
borough that is vibrant and full of 
opportunity, where people enjoy 
spending time; 

 
The Health and Wellbeing Board 
will contribute to this priority 

Page 13



 

 The town centres are the beating 
heart of Doncaster 

 More people can live in a good 
quality, affordable home 

 Healthy and Vibrant Communities 
through Physical Activity and Sport 

 Everyone takes responsibility for 
keeping Doncaster Clean 

 Building on our cultural, artistic and 
sporting heritage 

 
 Doncaster Learning: Our vision is for 

learning that prepares all children, 
young people and adults for a life that 
is fulfilling; 
 

 Every child has life-changing 
learning experiences within and 
beyond school 

 Many more great teachers work in 
Doncaster Schools that are good or 
better 

 Learning in Doncaster prepares 
young people for the world of work  
 

 
The Health and Wellbeing Board 
will contribute to this priority 

 Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for a 
borough that cares together for its 
most vulnerable residents; 
 

 Children have the best start in life 

 Vulnerable families and individuals 
have support from someone they 
trust 

 Older people can live well and 
independently in their own homes 

 

 
The Health and Wellbeing Board 
will contribute to this priority  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Connected Council:  

 A modern, efficient and flexible 
workforce 

 Modern, accessible customer 
interactions 

 Operating within our resources and 
delivering value for money 

 A co-ordinated, whole person, 
whole life focus on the needs and 
aspirations of residents 

 Building community resilience and 
self-reliance by connecting 
community assets and strengths 

 Working with our partners and 
residents to provide effective 
leadership and governance  

 
The Health and Wellbeing Board 
will contribute to this priority 

Page 14



 
 
 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
9. None 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10. No legal implications have been sought for this update paper. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11. No financial implications have been sought for this update paper. 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
12. No human resources implications have been sought for this update paper. 
 
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
13. No technology implications have been sought for this update paper. 
 
HEALTH IMPLICATIONS  

 
14. There are no additional health implications in this report. 
 
 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
15. The primary care committee and the Working Win approach both address 

the needs of some of the most vulnerable people in Doncaster. Assessing 
the impact of these approaches will be important. 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
16. None 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
17. None 
 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
Dr Rupert Suckling, Director, Public Health  
01302 734010   rupert.suckling@doncaster.gov.uk 
 
Louise Robson, Public Health Theme Lead, Public Health 
01302 734015    louise.robson@doncaster.gov.uk 
 

Dr Rupert Suckling  
Director Public Health  

 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



DONCASTER HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: DRAFT OUTLINE BUSINESS AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2019/20 
APPENDIX A 

Date Board Core Business Partner Organisation and 
Partnership Issues 

 Plans and reports from  
o CCG 
o NHSE 
o DMBC 
o Health watch 
o RDaSH 
o DBH 

 Safeguarding reports 

 Better Care Fund 

 DPH annual report 

 Role in partnership 
stocktake 

 Wider stakeholder 
engagement and events 

 Relationship with Team 
Doncaster and other Theme 
Boards 

 Relationship with other key 
local partnerships 

 Health Protection 
Assurance Framework 

 Wellbeing and Recovery 
strategy 

 Adults and Social care 
Prevention Strategy 

 Housing 

 Environment 

 Regeneration 

HWBB Steering  Group 
Work plan 
 

 Areas of focus – 
schedule of reports and 
workshop plans 

 Integration of health 
and social care (BCF)) 
workshop plan 

 Other subgroups – 
schedule of reports 

 Communications 
strategy 

 Liaison with key local 
partnerships 

 Liaison with other 
Health and Wellbeing 
Boards (regional 
officers group) 

 Learning from     
Knowledge Hub 

Meeting/Workshop Venue 

 11th April 2019  Workshop 
 Topic:  Recovery Cities 
 
Time:  09.30 – 12.00 noon 

Venue:   
 
High Speed Rail College, 
Carolina Way, Doncaster, 
DN4 5PN 

 13th June 2019 Board meeting 

 HWBB Steering group 
update 

 Outcomes framework 
update (new areas) 

 Tobacco control update 

Civic office room 007a and 
007b 

  

P
age 17



DONCASTER HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: DRAFT OUTLINE BUSINESS AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2019/20 
APPENDIX A 

 Health and social 
care/BCF update 

 Health watch/Missed 
Appointments update 

 Substance 
Misuse/Alcohol update 

 Health inequalities 
update 

 

4th July 2019  Workshop 
Outcomes and Health 
inequalities  

Venue tbc   
 
 
 

5th September 2019 Board meeting 

 HWBB Steering group 
update 

 Outcomes framework 
update (Area of focus 
deep dive) 

 Health and social 
care/BCF update 

 Children and Young 
people Impact report 
update 

 State of health Annual 
report 

Civic office room 007a and 
007b 

  

10th October 2019 Workshop 
Topic tbc 

Venue tbc   

  7th November 2019 Board meeting  

 HWBB steering group 

 Outcomes framework 
update (new areas) 

 Health and social 
care/BCF update 

Civic office room 007a and 
007b 

  P
age 18



DONCASTER HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: DRAFT OUTLINE BUSINESS AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2019/20 
APPENDIX A 

 Safeguarding report 
update (adults) 

 Safeguarding report 
update (children) 

 

5th December 2019  Workshop 
Topic tbc 

Venue TBC   

 

2019 Health and Wellbeing Board: future meetings  

 
13th June 2019 (Venue: Civic office rooms 007a and 007b) 
 
5th September 2019 (Venue : Civic office rooms 007a and 007b) 
  
7th November 2019 (Venue : Civic office rooms 007a and 007b) 
  
 
 
Health and Wellbeing Workshop Dates – Topics/venues/dates to be confirmed  
 
 
11th April 2019           9.30 -12 Recovery Cities – Venue: High Speed Rail College 
 
4th July 2019              9-12 Outcomes and Health Inequalities tbc    
 
10th October 2019      9-12 to be confirmed 
 
5th December 2019     9-12 to be confirmed 
 
  

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Date: 14.3.2019 
 

Subject: Dementia Deep Dive 

Presented by: Stephen Emmerson – Head of Strategy and Delivery, DCCG 

Louise Robson - Public Health Theme Lead (Working Age and Healthy Lives), 
PH, DMBC 

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision  

Recommendation to Full Council  

Endorsement  

Information √ 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol) No 

Mental Health  No 

Dementia Yes 

Obesity No 

Children and Families  No 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment No 

Finance 
No 

Legal 
 

No 

Equalities 
 

No 

Other Implications (please list) 
No 

 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

By raising awareness, reducing stigma and promoting prevention of Dementia.  By diagnosing well, 
improving pathways and ensuring effective care planning will ensure people with dementia and their 
carers can receive the right post diagnostic care and support to ensure people can live well with 
dementia.  If people with dementia need to access urgent and emergency care, these service are 
respondent to their needs. 

Recommendations 

The Board is asked to:- 
 
Acknowledge the progress made in the area of focus and the areas for future development. 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Date: 14th March 2019 
 

     Subject: Learning Disability and Autism Strategy 

Presented by: Jayne Gilmour, Interim Strategic Lead 

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision  

Recommendation to Full Council  

Endorsement  

Information Yes 

 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol)  

Mental Health  Aligns 

Dementia Aligns 

Obesity  

Children and Families  Yes 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Contribute to JSNA, 
which needs to 
include Autism 

Finance 
Should enable a 
clearer focus on how 
available resources 
are jointly utilised and 
enable redirection of 
funding to transform 
services where 
appropriate. 

Legal 
 

N/A 

Equalities 
 

Should address health 
and other inequalities 

Other Implications (please list) 
Will support the Joint 
Commissioning 
strategy 

 
 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



 
 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

The strategy and delivery plans will ensure that there are clear joint priorities for improving the health 
and wellbeing of people with Learning disabilities and people with Autistic Spectrum conditions. This 
will include improving access to health care, health and wellbeing services and a broader roll out of 
reasonable adjustments including universal services. 

 

Recommendations 

The Board is asked to:-  
 

1) Note the progress being made with development of the Strategy and to provide feedback as 
part of the consultation process; 
 

2) Consider at a later date the findings of the Autism Self- Assessment Framework, and consider 
specific reference to Autism in the next JSNA. 

   
 

Page 24



 

 
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Date:  14 March 2019 
 

Subject: Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018 

Presented by: Dr Rupert Suckling 

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision  

Recommendation to Full Council  

Endorsement  

Information x 

 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHW Strategy Areas of Focus Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol) X 

Mental Health  x 

Dementia X 

Obesity x 

Children and Families  x 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment x 

Finance 
 

Legal 
 

 

Equalities 
 

 

Other Implications (please list) 
 

 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

 

The Director of Public Health (DPH) has a statutory duty to write a report on the health of the local 
population and the authority has a duty to publish it (section 73B (5) & (6) of the 2006 Act, inserted by 
section 31 of the 2012 Act). The content and structure of the report is something to be decided locally. 

 

The 2018 Doncaster Director of Public Health Annual Report is the fourth authored by Dr Rupert 
Suckling. 

 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 10



In an increasingly digital world, this year the delivery of the main report is as a short video 
https://youtu.be/SghEWPqi4Jg which will be made available online, the attached PDF version is 
intended to accompany the video. 

 

This is the first Annual Report to focus on a specific topic and the topic is ‘No health without mental 
health’. As a society it is important that everyone understands what is meant by mental health and is 
able to talk about it.  

 

For this Annual Report mental health or mental wellbeing is defined as the combination of feeling good 
and functioning effectively. Feeling good includes not only the positive emotions of happiness and 
contentment, but also other emotions as interest, engagement, confidence and affection. Functioning 
effectively (in a psychological sense) involves the development of one’s life, having a sense of 
purpose such as working towards valued goals, and experiencing positive relationships. 

 

Three key factors impact on mental health, living circumstances, personal resources and the activities 
where energy is focussed. This report concentrates on the activities where energy is focussed and by 
focusing on the ‘Five ways to Wellbeing’ people can create better mental health for themselves, their 
families and their friends. 

 

The Annual Report does not focus on living circumstances, personal resources or mental health 
services for either children and young people, or adults with mental illness as these issues, services 
and strategies have all been the subject of local Overview and Scrutiny reviews in the last year. 
Locally most mental health services are commissioned by Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group 
and provided by Rotherham Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust. Further information 
about these services is available through the individual organisations. 

  

Finally this report provides updates on progress against the five building blocks for good health and 
wellbeing identified in 2017‘s report. These are:  

 

• Give every child the best start in life 

• Make good growth our watchword for economic development 

• Improve healthy life expectancy through preventing disability 

• Tackle unfairness and health inequalities 

• Build a sustainable and resilient borough 

 

 

Recommendations 

The Board is asked to:- 
  
NOTE the report and consider how the recommendations can be taken forward in future strategy and 
delivery plans. 

 

Page 26



No health 
without 

mental health

Director of Public Health 
Annual Report for 

Doncaster 2018

Page 27



No health without mental health
Director of Public Health Annual Report for Doncaster 2018

Contents
 

Foreword and Introduction� 5

The five ways to wellbeing � 6

	 Learn� 8

	 Connect� 12

	 Be active� 16

	 Give� 20

	 Take notice� 26

Conclusion and future recommendations� 30

P
age 28



Foreword and Introduction

Welcome to my fourth Annual Report as Director 
of Public Health for Doncaster Council. 

In an increasingly digital world, this year I’ve chosen to 
deliver my main report as a short video which is available 
online at www.doncaster.gov.uk/phannualreport 
This PDF version is intended to accompany 
the video and I hope you’ll enjoy both. 

This is the first of my reports to focus on a specific topic 
and the topic is ‘No health without mental health’. Yet 
mental health is still seen by many as a taboo subject 
despite the fact that we all have mental health! As a 
society it is important that everyone understands what 
is meant by mental health and is able to talk about it. By 
mental health or mental wellbeing I’m referring to the 
combination of feeling good and functioning effectively. 
Feeling good includes not only the positive emotions 
of happiness and contentment, but also other emotions 
as interest, engagement, confidence and affection. 
Functioning effectively (in a psychological sense) involves 
the development of one’s life, having a sense of purpose 
such as working towards valued goals, and experiencing 
positive relationships.

Three key factors impact on our mental health, our 
circumstances, our personal resources and the activities 
we focus our energy on. Our circumstances and where 
we live makes a difference to our mental health whether 
it’s the quality of our schools, jobs, housing, urban design 
or availability of green space. Our personal resources 
including our physical health are also important in 
helping us be resilient to life’s ups and downs.  Although 
we may have less control of our circumstances or our 
personal resources what is clear is that through what we 
focus our energy on we can create better mental health 
for ourselves, our families and our friends. The best way 
to do this is to adopt the ‘Five Ways to Wellbeing’.

As you will see much of what we can do to create mental health requires schools, 
businesses and statutory services to behave differently. In fact statutory services will 
need to change from doing ‘to’ or ‘for’ people and become services that work ‘with’ 
people and encourage people to solve problems ‘by’ themselves.

I have deliberately focused on the five ways to wellbeing and 
not addressed our circumstances, our personal resources or 
mental health services for either children and young people 
or adults with mental illness as these issues, services and 
strategies have all been the subject of local Overview and 
Scrutiny reviews in the last year.

Locally most mental health services are commissioned 
by Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group an 
provided by Rotherham Doncaster and South Humber 

NHS Foundation Trust. Further information about these services is available 
through the individual organisations.

In creating this report I am grateful for the help of a number of colleagues. In particular 
I would like to thank Andy Maddox, Vanessa Powell-Hoyland and Tom Smith from 
Doncaster Council, Sue Redfern from St Leger Homes, and Joan Kee and Marie McClay 
from Age UK, who took part in the video interviews. I’d also like to thank Steve Betts, 
Daniel Debenham, Steph Cunningham and Duncan Rynehart from the communications 
team for their valued input to the production of this report. 

If you have any questions or comments about any aspect of the report 
please send them to me at: PublicHealthEnquiries@doncaster.gov.uk

Dr Rupert Suckling 
@rupertsuckling

Director of Public Health 
Doncaster Council

4 5

P
age 29

http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/health-wellbeing/about-public-health#phannualreport&src=report18pdf


The five ways to wellbeing

In the same way that it is widely 
acknowledged that eating five 
portions of fruit and vegetables 
should be part of a balanced 
and healthy diet, the five ways 
to wellbeing are recommended 
steps that everyone can build 
into their daily life to improve 
their mental health and wellbeing.

Mental health isn’t just about the absence of mental illness, 
it’s much more about life satisfaction, happiness, feeling 
worthwhile and having low anxiety. There are things we 
can do as individuals, families and communities that will 
help us create better mental health, so by keeping learning, 
connecting with others, being active, giving our time and 
taking notice we can all help ourselves and our families.

5
WAYS TO 

WELLBEING

Learn

Connect

Be activeGive

Take notice

6 7

P
age 30



Whilst many people will think of 
learning as something that results in a 
qualification, in reality we can all learn 
from every-day interactions with family, 
friends and others in our community.

Learning begins early in life with the first 1001 days 
of a child’s life being the most important, this is when 
Doncaster children are increasing their readiness for 
school. However, with the nature of work changing 
it is important that we all take learning seriously 
throughout our lives. Learning is also a social activity 
and Doncaster is lucky to have a range of assets that 
we can draw on for learning. 

Learning and 
developing 
new skills can 
give a sense of 
achievement 
and a new found 
confidence.

Learn
01

learning courses 
completed at 
Doncaster libraries 
in 2017-18

720

Watch Tom’s video 
about learning in Doncaster

Click to view the video online or scan the code 
with your phone on the printed document:
www.bit.ly/ph-learn

It’s a great social way to talk about 
what you enjoyed and learn about how 
people interpret stories differently.

60 
Readers groups 
in Doncaster 

8 9

P
age 31

www.bit.ly/ph-learn


To support with computer and internet 
skills we have an iPad and tablet club, 
and a computer basics class. The 
computer basics class does exactly 
what it says, it is designed for people 
who have never been on a computer 
and runs over a three-week period, at 
the end of which they are equipped 
with the skills and confidence to use a 
computer on their own, either at home 
or in the library. The tablet club is used 
as a drop-in session for all residents 
to ask any questions they might have 
about making best use of their tablet, 
it also encourages members to the 
group to support each other and meet 
new people.

We also facilitate around 60 readers 
groups in Doncaster, with each having 
between 4 and 15 members. In the 
groups every member reads the same 
book and then comes together three 
or four weeks later to discuss it. It’s a 
great social way to talk about what you 
enjoyed and learn about how different 
people interpret stories differently.

There are so many health benefits linked to reading; 
it can reduce stress levels, prevent the onset of 
Alzheimer’s and Dementia, and it can also help you 
live longer, who doesn’t want that?

For younger children we hold rhyme time across the 
Borough, which as well as being fun helps to develop 
language and literacy skills. It’s also got an important 
part to play in preparing them for school by teaching 
them to observe, interact, sit down and listen to stories 
as well as socialising with other children.

Like it or not, computers and coding are now becoming 
part of our daily lives and it’s also part of the school 
curriculum. In Doncaster Libraries we’re also giving 
children the opportunity to be one step ahead by 
learning how to code and learning how to integrate 
these skills into their daily lives.

At Doncaster Libraries we’ve got a lot of fantastic groups 
set up that help local residents of all ages to learn.

Doncaster Libraries

e-books and audio 
downloaded from Doncaster 
Libraries in 2017-18

visits to Doncaster Libraries

online visits to: 
�library.doncaster.gov.uk

items borrowed and over

514,504 

626,436

OVER 
400,000
12,000

CA
SE

 S
TU

D
Y

Tom Wilcock – Doncaster Libraries

Le
ar

n

10 11

P
age 32



In Doncaster we have an increasing 
focus on the importance of connecting 
people together and talking about 
how we’re feeling. This was noted in 
the Doncaster Talks report where the 
two most important things for local 
people’s health and wellbeing were 
highlighted as connection with others 
and being open to new experiences.

Tackling loneliness is a key priority for the Doncaster 
Health and Wellbeing Board working with local 
charities, groups and communities. The Your Life 
Doncaster website provides links to over 1,500 
community groups and projects such as the Well 
Doncaster programme that began in Denaby in 2015 
that are actively engaging communities to help build 
their own local links.

Social isolation 
can have the same 
impact on our 
health as smoking 
15 cigarettes a day. 

Connect
02

community groups 
and projects linked 
from Your Life 
Doncaster

1500

Watch Sue and Vanessa 
talk about connecting in Doncaster 

Click to view the video online or scan the code 
with your phone on the printed document:
www.bit.ly/ph-connecting

12 13

P
age 33

www.bit.ly/ph-connecting


One piece of work that we’ve helped to 
develop is working with St Leger Homes 
on a project called Denaby Recycling 
which reuses furniture left in empty St 
Leger properties.

The programme started 12 months ago 
when it was noted that a number of 
new tenants were experiencing social 
isolation and didn’t have enough money 
to buy furniture for their property. By 
Well Doncaster and St Leger working 
in partnership a new successful 
approach was developed. Previously 
any furniture or electrical equipment 
left in empty St Leger properties was 
thrown away, under the new approach 
all left items are now safety tested and 
made available for other tenants in the 
Denaby area to use.

This new approach has meant that 
residents have been able to pay their 
rent because they’re not had to spend 
money on as many electrical items or 
furniture and as a result the quality 
of life they’re now experiencing is far 
better. When a tenant of 17 or 18 years 
old moves into a house for the first 

Well Doncaster aims to reduce health inequalities and 
looks at how we can connect with communities by taking 
a different approach. 

Well Doncaster programme in Denaby

“�The service is helping residents 
sustain their tenancies and 
improve their quality of life by 
recycling furniture and giving 
back out into the community.”

CA
SE

 S
TU

D
Y

Vanessa Powell-Hoyland - Well North Programme, Doncaster Council
Sue Redfern - St Leger Homes

time they may have their own pots or pans, but it’s the 
bigger and more expensive items that St Leger can help 
them with, things like washing machines, fridge freezers, 
toasters and sofas.

One of the important things we know about supporting 
local communities is that it helps people to grow and 
develop. Over the last three years people of all ages 
in Denaby have been identifying ‘what’s strong’ and 
building on that by creating places for people to meet, 
supporting community events and setting up small 
business with practical support from the Well Doncaster 
Team.	

As the work in Denaby continues, the learning from 
the Well North programme is being expanded into 
other communities across the Borough, with four new 
wards selected to expand the reach of the programme; 
Edlington, Balby, Bentley and Stainforth. Each 
community has their own strengths and challenges and 
we are working with local people and organisations to 
understand how best to address these.

Mental health 
disorders 
affect more 
than 1 in 4 of 
the population 
at any one 
given time.

Per year, mental 
health disorders 
cost the English 
economy an 
estimated 

£105 
billion

Co
nn

ec
t

“�People of all ages 
in Denaby have been 
identifying ‘what’s strong’ 
and building on that 
by creating places for 
people to meet.”

14 15

P
age 34



Everyone knows it is good for 
maintaining a healthy heart and 
strengthening our bones and muscles, 
but physical activity is also beneficial 
to our mental health and wellbeing.

We need to change the way we view physical activity so 
it is not seen as something we ‘have to do’, ‘should do’ 
or ‘ought to do’ for our health, but as something that 
we do because we personally understand its positive 
benefits to our wellbeing.

In addition to benefitting the health of the Borough, 
physical activity and sport also contributes significantly 
to Doncaster’s economy:

There are many 
reasons why 
physical activity is 
good for our bodies.

Be active
03

people take part 
in Sandall Park’s 
weekly 5km run.

356

£54m 
worth of 

volunteering.

£133m 
of value created through a healthier 
population and savings to care costs.

£95m 
per year directly 

through salaries and 
company profits.

Watch Andy’s video 
about being active in Doncaster 

Click to view the video online or scan the code 
with your phone on the printed document:
www.bit.ly/ph-active

16 17

P
age 35

http://bit.ly/ph-active


We’re also aiming to deliver dance across all age 
groups, with a focus on both young and old in local 
communities, and recreationally parks and opens 
spaces are a very important to the programme as 
places where residents can enjoy being active. As 
the fifth element of the programme, sport, we’re 
looking to invest in our facilities over the longer term 
and will be supporting local clubs and volunteers to 
grow the heart of our sporting population.

As well as being beneficial for mental and physical 
health, being active is also a key way to make the 
local population more aspirational and affluent, 
helping people to be more engaged in their local 
communities, more engaged in work and more 
engaged in education.

We want everyone to be active 
and to Get Doncaster Moving.

We all know that physical activity can help us: it helps in 
a number of ways by reducing heart disease and stroke, 
reducing cancer and type two diabetes, but being active also 
reduces depression and can improve our mental well-being.

In Doncaster one third of our population are classed as 
inactive, doing less than 30 minutes of physical activity each 
week. Through Get Doncaster Moving we intend to change 
that. The programme is designed across five themes of 
walking, cycling, dance, sports and parks/open spaces, and 
we are working with partners to improve the health of the 
Borough, both physically and mentally. 

Through walking and cycling we aim to help people become 
more active, both as forms of transport and for recreation. 
We have invested in the Trans Pennine Trail which has seen 
a massive increase in the number of people cycling and 
walking in the area. We’re also investing in a cycling circuit in 
Doncaster, creating a traffic-free environment where residents 
can enjoy riding a bike and seeing cycling competitions in 
action as Doncaster becomes a hotbed of cycling, shown by 
the Borough hosting stages of the Tour de Yorkshire in 2018 
and the forthcoming UCI World Championships in 2019.

In the past 12 months Doncaster has become one of 12 
national Sport England Local Delivery Pilot sites and 
Get Doncaster Moving is one of our transformational 
projects for the Borough.

Get Doncaster Moving
CA

SE
 S

TU
D

Y

Andy Maddox - Doncaster Council Leisure Services

30 different play and advice 
sessions at the local family 
hubs each week

Be
 a

ct
iv

e

193,000 
Doncaster residents have been 
given the opportunity to watch 
the Tour de Yorkshire race pass 
through their local community 
since its first visit in 2016.

18 19

P
age 36



Research shows 
that our health and 
happiness can be 
directly linked to 
giving back to the 
community through 
volunteering and 
connecting with the 
people around us.

Give
04

volunteering 
hours are given 
across Doncaster 
each year

350,000

Volunteering and community action 
holds the power to transform a place 
and can positively influence the health 
and wellbeing outcomes of an entire 
population. It’s also proven to help 
people overcome struggles with their 
mental and physical health and overall 
leads to happier and healthier lives.

Volunteering is already at the heart of our health and 
social care system. Volunteers who visit patients, run 
cafés, offer support groups and generally help people 
living with illness to feel better, are worth an estimated 
£700,000 a year (Kings Fund) to each individual NHS trust.

Watch Joan’s video 
about being giving back in Doncaster 

Click to view the video online or scan the code 
with your phone on the printed document:
www.bit.ly/ph-giving

20 21

P
age 37

http://bit.ly/ph-giving


Joan started volunteering when her son suggested that she 
get out and about more. She called into the local library 
and that one step started her volunteering career! Joan 
then heard about Age UK and by volunteering with their 
Doncaster branch was able to take people to the library 
which in turn helped them to make new friends.

“I feel as if I’ve won the lottery when I get to hear their 
stories and I’m sorry that I couldn’t have done this years 
ago. It’s been such a pleasure helping others. I would 
advise anyone to try it.”

Joan Kee is a volunteer at Age UK in Doncaster and 
helps people locally to get out and about which 
can make a big difference to their mental health, 
but has made a big difference to Joan too.

“�It’s brilliant and I would 
advise anyone to give it 
a try. The people you 
are paired with become 
your friends.”

“�It’s been such a pleasure 
helping others. I would 
advise anyone to try it.”

Volunteering in Doncaster

Volunteers who generally help 
people living with illness to feel 
better are worth and estimated

to each individual NHS trust.
£700,000 

CA
SE

 S
TU

D
Y

Joan Kee (volunteer), Age UK
Marie McClay, Age UK

G
iv

e
Mental health 
disorders start at 
an early age and 
can have lifetime 
consequences. 

Opportunities to 
promote and protect 
good mental health 
begin at conception 
and continue 
throughout the 
life-course, from 
childhood to old age.

22 23

P
age 38



Mental health disorders 
are responsible for the 
largest burden of disease 
in England – 23% of the 
total burden, compared 
to 16% for cancer and 
16% for heart disease.

Mental wellbeing is associated with a wide 
range of improved outcomes in health, 
education and employment, as well as 
reduced crime and antisocial behaviour.	

23%

16%
Cancer

Mental Health

Heart
Disease

16%

45% 
(all others)

24 25

P
age 39



Taking notice means both seeing what 
is going on outside us and being aware 
of what is happening inside our bodies 
too.

As part of the Doncaster Growing Together programme 
a wide range of improvements to local facilities are 
underway across the Borough, with the redesign of 
the train station, the creation of the Herten Triangle 
and work in progress on the development of the new 
cultural hub, set to replace the existing central library 
and art gallery in 2020 as part of the Urban Centre 
Masterplan. Work is also underway on refurbishing 
the Wool Market with the programme expected to be 
completed in Spring 2019.  

In our parks there has been a lot of development in 
the past year too, with a number of improvements to 
facilities being made, making the areas more inviting 
and attractive to residents.

Taking notice 
means actively 
paying attention to 
ourselves and the 
world around us.

Take notice
05 OVER 20

PARKS
and hundreds 
of other open 
spaces in the 
Borough.

Watch Ben’s video 
about taking notice in Doncaster 

Click to view the video online or scan the code 
with your phone on the printed document:
www.bit.ly/ph-notice

86,800 
visitors to Doncaster Museum, 
Doncaster Art Gallery and 
Cusworth Hall Museum last year

26 27

P
age 40

http://bit.ly/ph-notice


As we look to improve parks and open spaces further we’re 
intending to introduce more walking maps so people can 
understand more about the distances they’re walking and 
the number of steps they’re taking. In November Sandall Park 
also unveiled the latest playground in the Borough, a huge 
wooden play and adventure area that is unique in Doncaster. 
Sandall Park is also home to Doncaster’s weekly 5km Park 
Run which celebrated its 5th Anniversary on 22 September 
with an impressive 356 people taking part in just one day!

Across Doncaster we have over 20 parks and 
hundreds of other open spaces that can all be 
used by everyone as places to get away from 
the daily grind and escape into greenery. We’ve 
got a wide variety of parks across the Borough, 
from parks close to the town centre, to Cusworth 
Hall and other country parks. There are lots of 
things to notice in our parks and seasonally the 
views and colours change, making every visit 
different to the last. 

In July, four of Doncaster’s parks were awarded 
the Green Flag, an award given annually to the 
best parks in the UK. As a council we are also 
delivering a range of ongoing improvements 
to make our parks even more welcoming for 
residents: for example, earlier this year Elmfield 
Park benefitted from trial solar lights which 
have been installed to all of its main footpaths.

Parks not only provide a place to relax and 
enjoy time with friends and family, but also a 
great place to be active. In addition to walking 
routes we have free outdoor gyms for adults 
and playground facilities for children across a 
number of our parks. 

Over recent years there’s been a closer working between 
the public health and parks and open spaces teams for 
the benefit of residents’ health.

“�We’ve introduced more 
free gym equipment to 
our open spaces which 
are proving to be 
very popular.”

Doncaster parks

in the Borough:
Sandall Park, Quarry Park Local Nature Reserve, 
Cusworth Park and Bentley Park

4 Green 
Flag Parks

CA
SE

 S
TU

D
Y

Ben Russell – Doncaster Council

Improved mental 
wellbeing and 
reduced mental 
disorder are 
associated with:

better 
physical health 

longer 
life expectancy 

reduced 
inequalities 

healthier 
lifestyles 

improved 
social functioning 

better 
quality of life Ta

ke
 n

ot
ic

e

28 29

P
age 41



Create, improve and protect mental wellbeing 
using the five ways to wellbeing to harness 
the role of arts, culture and physical activity, 
promote social connections and contribute to 
inclusive economic growth and the reduction 
of health inequalities.

Age UK Doncaster - www.ageuk.org.uk/doncaster  
Get Doncaster Moving – www.getdoncastermoving.org 
St Leger Homes - www.stlegerhomes.co.uk  
Well Doncaster - www.wellnorth.co.uk/pathfinders/well-doncaster

In conclusion I hope 
this report gives a 
flavour of how mental 
and physical health are 
both intrinsically linked: 
there is no health 
without mental health.

Recommendations for 2019

References

Suicide is the biggest killer of men under 45 in the UK and 
today 16 people will take their own lives. That’s why I’m 
keen that in Doncaster we pledge to become a zero suicide 
Borough and that we always ask twice when we’re talking to 
people and asking about their mental health. This should be 
backed by rolling out Mental Health First Aid training across 
the Borough.

Doncaster Council and partners should sign 
the Prevention Concordat for Better Mental 
Health as an indication of support for the 
mental wellbeing of both Doncaster people 
and Doncaster employees. 

Continue to deliver mental health service improvements 
across the life course with service users as identified by 
Overview and Scrutiny reviews including:

a.	 improving the mental health of parents  
	 at the time of the birth of a new child

b.	 improving children and young people’s mental health  
	 by responding quicker to all requests for support

c.	 improving responses to crisis including  
	 better use of peer support

d.	 reducing the need for and use of Out of Area placements

e.	 improve employment support for those with mental  
	 health issues to help them stay in work or return to work.

Conclusion and future 
recommendations

1

2

3

4

30 31

P
age 42



I’m keen to hear your views on this report.

Please get in touch at:

Director of Public Health 
Doncaster Council 
Civic Office 
Waterdale 
Doncaster 
DN1 3BU

Email: PublicHealthEnquiries@doncaster.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01302 734581

www.doncaster.gov.uk/publichealth

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Public Health
Annual Report

2018

Update on 
recommendations 

from 2017

Page 45



The first 1001 days (conception to second birthday) of 
a child’s life has lifelong effects on health, wellbeing, 
educational achievement and economic status.

The Doncaster Place Plan partners are developing a 
proposal for a consistent, sustainable and preventative 
integrated offer for the first 1001 days, which is locally 
available and strengthens family engagement as 
partners in securing the best start in life.

The effectiveness of Early Help was recognised in the 
January 2018 OFSTED inspection report. The number 
of children receiving Early Help continues to increase 
and, although multi-agency support has declined over 
the year, this is exceeded by the rate of growth in single 
agency work. However, re-referral rates into Early Help 
remain high. Work is being undertaken to explore this 
further. 

Family Hubs are developing and all localities have a 
self-evaluation form which is updated four times a year. 
In the last year, judgements have moved from ‘requires 
improvement’ to ‘good’ as a result of the increased 

participation of children and families. The integrated 
local offer working in and through Family Hubs focusses 
on health and development, employment support and 
children, family stability and supporting families with 
complex needs. 

Healthy Learning Healthy Lives provides a framework 
and support for schools to work towards providing 
a health promoting environment for children. This 
includes specific criteria on providing a wide range of 
physically active opportunities.

There are over 30 primary schools providing the 
Daily Mile to children across Doncaster. Support and 
resources are available for any school to be able to 
deliver the Daily Mile to help embed physical activity 
into the day.

A Get Doncaster Moving ‘Active Schools’ group has 
been set up, to provide Borough-wide coordination and 
support for schools to increase and improve the quality 
of physical activity.

Give every child the best start in life

3

Contents

Give every child the best start in life� 3

Make good growth our watchword� 4 
for economic development

Improve healthy life expectancy� 5 
through preventing disabilities

Tackle unfairness and health inequalities� 6

Update on 
recommendations 
from 2017

Dr Rupert Suckling 
@rupertsuckling

Director of Public Health 
Doncaster Council

If you have any questions or comments about any aspect of the report, 
please send them to me at: PublicHealthEnquiries@doncaster.gov.uk

P
age 46



The council has developed a social value policy that 
was published in December 2018 in order to maximise 
the social value of the ‘Doncaster pound’. This will be 
followed up with a practical social value toolkit to 
assist with the embedding of social value within the 
commissioning and procurement of works, goods and 
services.  

The Better Working Futures (National Work and Health 
Programme) is fully operational across South Yorkshire 
and is delivered by Reed in Partnership.  Working Win 
(Work and Health Unit Trial) is fully operational and 
delivered by the South Yorkshire Housing Association. 
Both these approaches are directed at those who 
are out of work and have a health condition, with 
Working Win also helping those in work but at risk of 
becoming unemployed through health issues.  The 
Local Integration Board ensures activity is fully aligned 
and that system barriers can be overcome through 
partnership working across Doncaster.

The Be Well @ Work award will be launched in the new 
year to support businesses to improve and maintain 
the health of their workforce. This is currently being 
piloted across several South Yorkshire businesses. The 
new award will be supported with an online portal 
containing toolkits, template policies and guides to 
support employers on a number of issues including 

mental health, sleep and absence management. 
A joint event with Public Health England is being 
organised on issues that employers face with employee 
wellbeing including mental health support to issues 
around appropriate use of fit notes and what can be 
done to address those barriers. Workshops are being 
offered to local employers on mental health/ stress 
awareness, resilience and sleep.

A men’s health football tournament was held in 
summer 2018, with 18 teams entered from a number 
of workplaces across Doncaster. 144 men attended the 
event where a range of health promotion activity was 
provided addressing cancer awareness, physical activity, 
mental health and smoking cessation.

Since the launch of the council’s energy company, 
Great North Energy (GNE), in November 2017, over 
4,300 supplies have switched. A cheaper energy supply 
for these residents equates to at least £250,000 of 
savings. The promotion of GNE adds to a list of other 
services the council is able to support residents with. 
These include: The Public Health funded Boiler on 
Prescription scheme (also known as the Winter Warmth 
Project). The Neighbourhood Energy Action project; 
the Energy Company Obligation grant and a variety of 
support services the Energy Team is able to refer to via a 
proactive home visit approach. 

The Doncaster Health and Wellbeing Board approved 
the prevention framework in September 2018 and this 
approach will be adopted by health and care partners. 

Specific prevention work to address smoking in adults in 
contact with hospital services and making every contact 
count is being rolled out.

Get Doncaster Moving aims to help Doncaster’s 
communities become healthier and more vibrant by 
increasing participation in physical activity and sport. 
In the past 12 months Doncaster has become one of 
12 national Sport England Local Delivery Pilot sites 
to create innovative solutions that make it easier for 
people in our communities to become active. In addition 
we have developed a wide number of approaches 
including:

•	 Dance On aimed at providing easy dance 
sessions for women aged 60 and above.

•	 Sports Officer supporting local 
clubs and communities.

•	 Active Travel Officer to improve 
places to walk and cycle.

•	 Walking Officer to support communities to 
have walking opportunities for everyone.

•	 Active Dearne which will provide 
community champions and grants to support 
local people and organisations.

The Good Food Doncaster (GFD) Partnership is now 
established and Doncaster identified as a sustainable 
food city. Work has begun to address food insecurity, 
holiday hunger, food banks and vegetable box schemes/ 
sustainable food initiatives, particularly in relation 
to the town centre and wool market developments. 

GFD includes people from Bentley Urban Farm, Jam 
Horse, the Real Junk Food Project, the Rotary Club, 
Flourish, Rotherham Doncaster and South Humber NHS 
Foundation Trust, Centre for Nutrition and Behaviour, 
VKN Digital, St Leger Homes, and the council. The 
sustainability of the partnership will be a key focus 
for 2019 in terms of charitable status and fundraising 
opportunities.

The council has incorporated controls on the increasing 
numbers of hot-food-takeaways and fast food outlets 
into the draft Doncaster Local Plan.  New applications 
will be directed towards town, district and local centres 
and clustering of such premises should not undermine 
objectives to promote healthy living. Specific proposals 
relate to new planning applications within 400 metres 
of schools where the intention is to limit opening hours 
to after 5pm on weekdays with no over counter sales 
before that time.   

The Food Enforcement Team continue to undertake 
inspections of existing takeaways and fast food outlets 
to ensure that they meet legislative requirements 
regarding food hygiene, labelling and composition, in 
particular that they comply with provisions relating to 
informing the public about allergens in food.

South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue are working with the 
council to consolidate and improve the Safe and Well 
referral scheme. This scheme identifies vulnerable 
residents who may be at an increased risk of accidental 
dwelling fire and provide them with a Home Safety 
Check and address any other concerns or support 
needs residents may have. In the last year 835 Safe and 
Well checks were completed, 223 of which resulted in 
onward referral. Following the successful introduction 
of the scheme in Doncaster, it is in the process of it 
being rolled out across all of South Yorkshire.

Make good growth our watchword for economic development Improve healthy life expectancy through preventing disabilities

4 5

P
age 47



The council has adopted health implications in all cabinet and council reports. 
Key areas of focus this year have been supporting developing a ‘healthy’ local plan 
and ensuring health elements are reflected in the ‘inclusive growth strategy’.  
 

The Community Engagement Strategy was agreed by Cabinet in October 2018. This strategy sets out some key areas 
of focus for engagement, and where appropriate, co-design services with local people. The six areas of focus cover:

•	 Active Citizen Voice – we will develop one 
consistent approach to enable consultation 
with our communities that is easy to access, 
where gaps exist, we will identify opportunities 
for communities to engage with us through 
a variety of forums and we will improve our 
internal processes to ensure our community 
information is readily available and up to date. 

•	 Supporting volunteering – we will support the 
potential that volunteering offers by promoting 
and supporting the vast number of people 
and local businesses that give up their time 
to make a difference in the community. 

•	 Supporting the Voluntary, Community and Faith 
(VCF) sector - we will create a clear partnership 
position on support for the sector including funding 
advice, training opportunities, and infrastructure 
support, making it clear how this will take place 
and how other VCF organisations can access it. 

•	 Opportunities for training and development -  we 
will develop a training plan that will support Elected 
Members and staff to better understand their role 
in community engagement, particularly when 
undertaking consultation. The aim is to consistently 
support the effective use of tools and techniques.

•	 Embedding social value in what we do - we 
will ensure that we consider economic, social 
and environmental factors when we make 
decisions about the use of public money.

•	 Bringing people together through the use of 
our Community Assets – we will use our assets 
creatively to support local communities to 
improve their areas and bring people together. 

Tackle unfairness and health inequalities

A revised Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
policy was agreed in September 2018 to establish a 
new approach with three component parts – Open 
data, commissioned deep dives and an annual state of 
health report. An integral part of this will be an online 
repository of published data and information to share 
insights and enable evidence based commissioning, 
design and decision making. This will be a significant 
move away from legacy ways of JSNA creation and 
publication in static PDF documents.

The council is also investing in rolling out its new 
Business Intelligence solution. This is taking a ‘start 
small and build’ approach so developments with this 
tool will be built over time, with an ambitious and broad 
pipeline of requests primarily initially focussing on areas 
of highest risk and impact.

The first part of the Black Asian and Minority Ethnic 
(BAME) health needs assessment work was reported in 
March 2017. Since then a number of focus groups have 
been held with local BAME residents and this identified 
a need to develop on-going engagement. A BAME health 
advisory group has been established and a three-year 
action plan proposed which emphasises building 
capacity, trust and communication networks. 

The approach to identifying and understanding unequal 
access and outcomes to the Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapy service for our BAME residents 
has been developed. This work has led to service 
adaptations and we are in the process of rolling the 
method out to other areas.

6 7

P
age 48



I’m keen to hear your views on this report.

Please get in touch at:

Director of Public Health 
Doncaster Council 
Civic Office 
Waterdale 
Doncaster 
DN1 3BU

Email: PublicHealthEnquiries@doncaster.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01302 734581

www.doncaster.gov.uk/publichealth

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Date:  14 March 2019 
 

Subject: Health and Care Update  

Presented by: Cath Doman / Damian Allen 

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision  

Recommendation to Full Council  

Endorsement  

Information x 

 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHW Strategy Areas of Focus Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol) x 

Mental Health  x 

Dementia x 

Obesity x 

Children and Families  x 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment x 

Finance 
 

Legal 
 

 

Equalities 
 

 

Other Implications (please list) 
 

 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

Local partners are updating the ‘place plan’ and joint commissioning and provider plans. All these 
approaches are subject to individual organisational governance process. This update will provide the 
Board with an overview of developments. 

 

 

Recommendations 

The Board is asked to:- 
  
NOTE the update, DISCUSS the latest developments. 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Date: 14.03.19 
 

Subject: ANTI-POVERTY UPDATE 

Presented by: PAUL TANNEY 

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision For Information 

Recommendation to Full Council N/A 

Endorsement N/A 

Information For Information For Information 

 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol) N 

Mental Health  Y 

Dementia N 

Obesity N 

Children and Families  Y 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment N 

Finance 
N 

Legal 
 

N 

Equalities 
 

N 

Other Implications (please list) 
N 

 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

Update on the work of Anti-Poverty Strategy Group to address poverty in Doncaster – the links 
between poverty and health are well documented. 

 

 

Recommendations 

The Board is asked to:-  
 
Consider the report for information. 
   
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



www.doncaster.gov.uk 

 
 

Report 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
                    

 
To the Chair and Members of the  
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 
ANTI POVERTY UPDATE 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. This report provides a summary of the work of the Anti Poverty Strategy 

Group for 2018. It also includes information in relation to the first update 
against the annual commitments made by Team Doncaster partner 
organisations which was formally signed at 5 June 2018 meeting together 
with case studies to show the benefits of joint working. 

 
EXEMPT REPORT 
 
2. This report is not exempt. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3. The Health and Wellbeing Board note the successes detailed within the 

report and the work of the Anti Poverty Group in its strategic approach to 
alleviating poverty across Doncaster.   

 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
4. The Anti Poverty Strategy Group (APSG) leads to address the impact and 

cause of poverty through influence and action and supports the promotion of 
initiatives that tackle the causes of poverty with a wide range of partner 
organisations to improve the lives of the citizens of Doncaster. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
5. APSG Successes 

The 2018 priority for the APSG was to work to address welfare reform.  Key 
highlights and achievements by the group include:- 
 

 

 Agreeing the APSG priority for 2018 was to minimise the impact of 
welfare reform 

Agenda Item No. 12 
Date:   14 March 2019                               

Page 55



 Regular updates on Universal Credit and actions to reduce impact eg: 
the creation of 58 digital access points across the borough. 

 Establishing the links between Good Food Alliance, Food Banks and 
Financial Inclusion Group. 

 Action plan to reduce the fear of communities engaging with DWP. 

 Reviewed draft outcomes from the Child Poverty Commission and 
discussed partner actions to address the issues from the 4 themes:- 
o Debt and benefits. 
o Jobs, work and skills. 
o Mental health. 
o Life transitions. 

 BBC Children in Need Emergency Essentials Grant Programme being 
accessed by partner organisations. 

 Working more closely with Credit Union after detailed presentation and 
raising its profile in our communities and organisations. 

 Gambling Impact on Poverty Training Sessions. 

 Reviewing APSG Action Plan. 

 Reaching agreement with all partner organisations of Team Doncaster 
to prioritise actions to address the causes of poverty and sign up to 13 
commitments. 

 
Attendance at APSG meetings during 2018 remained variable which has led 
to some frustrations by some members of the group. 
 
The APSG has identified the priority for 2019 to continue to be ‘Addressing 
Welfare Reform’ 

 
Team Doncaster Commitment Statement 
All the partner members of Team Doncaster signed up to a commitment 
statement, set out at appendix 1, to address poverty and the causes of 
poverty. The majority of Team Doncaster partners have provided an end of 
year update of actions they have taken against the Commitment Statement 
and this update was presented to last months meeting of the Team 
Doncaster partnership. 

 
The responses evidence a significant amount of actions being undertaken 
by partners to address poverty and the cause of poverty which includes the 
following:- 

 

SYFR 

 Making referrals for those experiencing poverty so fuel and benefit 
checks can be completed. 

 Supporting 80 volunteers / work placement, helping young people 
make career choices. 

 Supporting the living wage. 

 Established some foodbank collection points across a number of sites. 
 

 

 

DONCASTER COLLEGE  

 Financial Support policy ensuring students in financial hardship receive 
funding to access education and training. 

 Revolutionary programmes in Traineeships to move into paid 
employment.  Logistics and Construction with 70% success. 

Page 56



 ‘Returning to Work’ and ‘Unemployed’ courses are tailored to meet 
needs of the local communities. 

 Credit Union actively implemented within College setting. 
 

Doncaster CCG 

 Data sharing enables commissioning decisions to be based on need 
and helps us target resources effectively. 

 Established a Health Inequalities Working Group.  

 Purchasing and structuring healthcare services for over 315,000 
patients in Doncaster. 

 Working more closely with Doncaster College to support our future 
workforce by promoting NHS Doncaster as a suitable career 
aspiration, showcasing the 350+ roles within the NHS. 

 Promoting the use of social prescribing to help patients and families 
access appropriate advice. 

 Collect for the Patient Focussed Group (PFG) foodbank. 
 

Doncaster & Bassetlaw Teach Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

 Ensure transport subsidies for patients are known and supported 
through systems for travel claims. 

 Expand the availability of apprenticeships and work experience 
placements across the organisation and enter into partnership with Hall 
Cross Academy. 

 Temporary worker Healthcare Assistants training scheme in 
conjunction with NHS Professionals. 

 Provide access to affordable credit to staff employed by the 
organisation. 

 

DMBC 

 Highlight health inequality implications within Corporate Reports. 

 Public Health commission Changing Lives Healthy Living Service to 
deliver accredited ESOL training for BME women in Doncaster. 

 Education, training and employment support and advice provided to 
Aspire clients. 

 Commission 2 year community based adult literacy programme 
targeting families. 

 Targeted fuel poverty work (Affordable Warmth Programme) in areas 
of highest fuel poverty. 

 Target NHS health checks service in areas of deprivation as identified 
in 2018 inequalities audit. 

 
Department of Work and Pensions 

 Sharing information relating to UC rollout and updates for partner 
organisations to plan for effects. 

 Job fairs hosted at JCP and elsewhere. 

 29 work experience placements have been hosted at JCP since April 
2018. 

 Participating with the local network and cascading information locally 
within the partnership. 

 Have personal budgeting support on site. 
 

 

Chamber of Commerce 

Page 57



 C1,400 businesses received business support of some description in 

2018. 

 C7,000 young people supported by Doncaster Skills Academy. 

 Enterprise support made available to all communities free of charge. 

 Led campaign to open Doncaster University Technical College. 

 Getting the green light for Doncaster UTC (which will be ‘best in class’ 

for employer links). 

 Brilliant work to support the town centre being delivered by partners in 

response to raising business concerns. 

 C£5,000 raised to support Doncaster charities including Real Help 

town centre cause. 

 Health related services (i.e. Westfield) available to Doncaster workers 

via Chamber membership (paid for by the employer / member). 

 Delivering 250 events for the local business community. 

 

Doncaster Children’s Trust 

 Parents experiencing worklessness are supported to access 
appropriate education, training or employment. 

 Preparation for independence programme created for children in care 
and Care Leavers (Key to my Future) which teaches young people a 
range of independent living skills including good personal financial 
management skills. 

 Children and families are supported financially to access all services 
without exception. 

 Has a well-developed apprenticeship scheme which covers business 

support, social work and participation and advocacy, as well as a 

graduate volunteer scheme which supports newly graduated young 

people to gain valuable work experience. 

 

St Leger Homes 

 Creation of Tenancy Sustainment Team and 686 tenants supported to 

help sustain their tenancies. 

 Reviewed Income Collection Policy. 

 Recruited 14 apprentices. 

 Close working with DWP including trialling staff working in the Job 

Centre. 

 1 tonne of food collected for our customers at Christmas for Doncaster 

foodbanks. 

 Established “Garage 32” furniture recycling scheme in partnership with 

Public Health. 

 Agreed process to address barriers for complex lives who have no ID 

and cannot access rehousing. 

 

 

Case Studies 

 

1. Garage 32 Recycling Scheme 

 

Page 58



A feasibility study was undertaken on whether St Leger Homes could set up 
a project around waste management which had the potential to not only 
reduce the number of skips that were being used but also to utilise usable 
furniture that would benefit tenants with minimal income and assist with 
sustainable tenancies for both new and existing tenancies.  

 
The pilot started in November 2017 and is currently still running in the South 
West Neighbourhood area. 

 
The initial scope for the pilot was for the St Leger Homes Caretakers to 
assess furniture and white goods when they were undertaking void 
clearances. They were to take any reusable items to a number of garages in 
Denaby for storage, the first garage used was no 32.  Estates Officers 
involved in the pilot organised the items and distributed them as and when 
they identified tenants that were in need of support during the viewing and 
sign-up process, with some existing tenants identified through day to day 
contact.  

 
White goods recovered from void properties were also stored as well as 
furniture. However the team were unable to distribute the white goods until 
the goods had passed a PAT (Portable Appliance Test).   

 
Public Health (Well Doncaster Team) became involved with the project at an 
early stage by funding repairs, security locks and paying for the training of 
an estates officer to become a qualified portable appliance tester (PAT), the 
latter enabling white goods to be distributed. 

 
Colleagues in Public Health (Well Doncaster) are extremely supportive of 
this initiative, enabling them to deliver against their Healthy Homes strategy 
and offered a secondment, for 12 months, to one of our pilot project staff to 
take the scheme borough wide. 

 
Joint metrics and KPIs will be established to monitor success; this will be a 
joint task for St leger Homes and Public Health. The scheme will include 
wider links to initiatives such as Stronger families and support re-housing of 
homeless citizens.  So far over 70 tenants have been supported through the 
scheme. 

 
This scheme will help address one of the two of the most important things 
we can do to improve a person’s health.  One is to support them in good 
employment and the second a healthy home. The physical condition of the 
home and the living experience has a significant impact on the health and 
wellbeing of individuals and our community.  

 
Poor housing conditions increase the risk of severe ill-health or disability by 
up to 25 per cent during childhood and early adulthood (Shelter, 2006) 
According to Marmot ('Fair Society, Healthy Lives, 2010) people living in the 
poorest neighbourhoods in England will on average die seven years earlier 
than people living in the richest neighbourhoods. 

 
Health inequalities arise from a complex interaction of many factors - 
housing, income, education, social isolation, disability - all of which are 
strongly affected by one's economic and social status. 

 

Page 59



Health inequalities are largely preventable. Not only is there a strong social 
justice case for addressing health inequalities, there is also a pressing 
economic case. It is estimated that the annual cost of health inequalities is 
between £36 billion to £40 billion through lost taxes, welfare payments and 
costs to the NHS. 

 
By expanding the scheme across the Borough in a 12 month pilot we hope 
we have helped address some health inequalities in housing and to provide 
more sustainable homes whilst delivering against SLHDs environmental 
objectives. 

 

2. The BBC Children in Need Emergency Grants Programme 

In November 2018 the APSG received a presentation regarding Children in 

Need emergency grants fund. The fund aims to provide grant items that 

meet children and young peoples’ most basic needs or are critical to their 

wellbeing.  It supports children and young people who are facing 

exceptionally difficult circumstances. 

 

The fund can deliver or fund critical items such as: 

 Gas or electric cookers 

 Essential household items 

 Furniture and kitchen equipment 

 Children’s beds and bedding 

 Washing machines 

 Fridges and freezers 

 Baby equipment 

 Clothing in exceptional or emergency situations 

 

The grant is a referrer only programme and the agency administering the 
grant work with as many organisations as possible in order to reach the 
families who are eligible for the grant.   
 
Members of the APSG have registered as referrer agencies and grants have 

been achieved for beds, bedding, white goods and clothing. 

 

 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
6. Not applicable. 
 
 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
7. Not applicable. 
 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 
 
8. 

 Outcomes Implications  
 Doncaster Working: Our vision is for Work of APSG impacts on 

 

Page 60



more people to be able to pursue their 
ambitions through work that gives 
them and Doncaster a brighter and 
prosperous future; 

 

 Better access to good fulfilling work 

 Doncaster businesses are 
supported to flourish 

  Inward Investment 
 

Council key priorities, with 
implications on the quality of 
life for Doncaster’ residents 
and the communities they live 
in. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The work contributes to 
healthy vibrant communities 
with more people living in 
affordable, sustainable homes.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The work helps children helps 
prepare for school by helping 
to ensure they have 
sustainable homes, are fed 
and reduce inequality. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The work supports vulnerable 
people to help them live more 
sustainable lives. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Doncaster Living: Our vision is for 
Doncaster’s people to live in a 
borough that is vibrant and full of 
opportunity, where people enjoy 
spending time; 
 

 The town centres are the beating 
heart of Doncaster 

 More people can live in a good 
quality, affordable home 

 Healthy and Vibrant Communities 
through Physical Activity and Sport 

 Everyone takes responsibility for 
keeping Doncaster Clean 

 Building on our cultural, artistic and 
sporting heritage 

 
 Doncaster Learning: Our vision is for 

learning that prepares all children, 
young people and adults for a life that 
is fulfilling; 
 

 Every child has life-changing 
learning experiences within and 
beyond school 

 Many more great teachers work in 
Doncaster Schools that are good or 
better 

 Learning in Doncaster prepares 
young people for the world of work  
 

 Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for a 
borough that cares together for its 
most vulnerable residents; 
 

 Children have the best start in life 

 Vulnerable families and individuals 
have support from someone they 
trust 

 Older people can live well and 
independently in their own homes 

 
 
 

Page 61



 Connected Council:  

 A modern, efficient and flexible 
workforce 

 Modern, accessible customer 
interactions 

 Operating within our resources and 
delivering value for money 

 A co-ordinated, whole person, 
whole life focus on the needs and 
aspirations of residents 

 Building community resilience and 
self-reliance by connecting 
community assets and strengths 

 Working with our partners and 
residents to provide effective 
leadership and governance  

 

 

By working together the group 
can deliver joint strategies to 
address poverty and the 
causes of poverty and support 
individuals and communities to 
be independent. 

 
 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
9.  There are no specific risks and assumptions for this report. 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10. There are no legal implications for this report. 
  
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.  There are no financial implications for this report.  
 
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.  There are no HR implications for this report.  
 
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.  There are no IT implications for this report.  
 
HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
14  Health inequalities are largely preventable. Not only is there a strong social 

justice case for addressing health inequalities, there is also a pressing 
economic case. It is estimated that the annual cost of health inequalities is 
between £36 billion to £40 billion through lost taxes, welfare payments and 
costs to the NHS. The work undertaken by the APSG help alleviate some of 
those inequalities. 

 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
15.  There are no equality implications for this report.  
 
CONSULTATION 
 
16.  Consultation has taken place with Public Health and members of the APSG. 

Page 62



 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
17.APSG Minutes and action plan and Team Doncaster Commitments Papers and 
responses. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
 
Paul Tanney, Chief Executive, St Leger Homes  
01302 862700 paul.tanney@stlegerhomes.co.uk 
 
Appendix 1 – Team Doncaster Commitment Statement 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

“DONCASTER WORKING TOGETHER TO REDUCE POVERTY IN 
OUR BOROUGH” 

 
Our principles for action: 

 
We will: 

1) Work together using an intelligence led approach to tackle Poverty in 
everything we do, including policy, and service delivery. 

2) Minimise disadvantage to those experiencing, or at risk of, poverty through 
our decision making.  

3) Work to change situations where poverty is a barrier to the receipt of services.  
4) Promote opportunities to improve education and skills for all. 
5) Attract better paid jobs to Doncaster so that poverty does not become a 

barrier to opportunity and achievement. 
6) Offer apprenticeships, training, volunteering opportunities and work 

experience placements to help people become work ready. 
7) Ensure there are appropriate support mechanisms in place to help those 

people who are furthest away from being work ready 
8) Work together to plan and deliver appropriate, accessible advice and support 

to those experiencing, or at risk of, poverty. 
9) Work with, listen to and support our communities to develop a culture of 

independence regardless of age or circumstance      
10) Promote and support the health and wellbeing of people experiencing or at 

risk of poverty. 
11)  Work to promote the awareness of poverty and the impacts and reduce the 

stigma associated with being affected by poverty. 
12)  Reduce the extent of financial exclusion through the promotion of the living 

wage and access to affordable credit. 
13)  Promote the commitment to local procurement in order to maximise the 

impact of the Doncaster Pound. 
 

Glyn Jones, Deputy Mayor:  
“It is in all our interests to ensure Doncaster is a thriving and ambitious town. We 
want the best for our communities and we want to see investment and growth which 
positively impacts all of us. We have been working on tackling poverty for many 
years but we now need everyone to help and so we invite others to join our quest to 
improve the lives of all people in Doncaster and to ensure that those who are at risk 
of or are already experiencing poverty are not left behind or impacted upon 
negatively” 
 
The priority this year is to help those affected by welfare reforms. 

Page 65



Oppo

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Do
Le

Do
W

Do

Do
C

ortunities

oncaste
earning

oncaste
Working

oncaste
Living 

oncaste
Caring 

s to inter

er 

g 

er 

g 

er 

er 
S
V
O

rvene: 

 

Opportuni

Youth allia
Apprentice
College 

Opportuni

Apprentice
UC/DWP 
SLHD WOW
Business
Local Integ

Opportun

Good qua
Vibrant C
Access to
Access to

Opportunit

Starting W
Vulnerable
Older Peop

ty Area: 

ance 
eships 

ty Area: 

eships 

W 

gration Bo

nity Area: 

ality afforda
ommunitie

o recreation
o culture & 

ty Area: 

Well 
e Families &
ple and CL

ard 

able homes
es 
n 
heritage 

& Individua
S 

s 

als 

Page 66



SIGNA

By sign
organis
reques
purpos

Signato
relevan

Organisa

The May

Chair, H

Board 

Chair, D

Doncast

Doncast

Enterpri

Chair, Ch

Forum 

South Yo

Services

Chief Ex

Council 

South Yo

Chief Ex

Children

Chief Of

ATURES 

ning this St
sation for it
sts for infor
se of this ag

ories must
nt legislatio

ation 

yor of Donca

ealth and W

oncaster CCG

ter College 

ter Chamber 

ising Doncast

hildren and F

orkshire Fire

s 

ecutive, Don

orkshire Poli

ecutive, Don

n’s Services T

fficer, Donca

trategy, all
ts executio
rmation an
greement. 

t also ensu
on.  

aster 

ell Being 

G 

& Chair, 

ter 

Families 

e and Rescue

ncaster 

ce 

ncaster 

Trust 

ster CCG 

l signatorie
on and agr
d the proce
 

ure that the

Name 

Ros Jones

Councillor

David Cric

Anne Tyrr

Dan Fell 

Nuala Fen

 
Steve Hel

Jo Miller

Shaun Mo

Paul Moff

Jackie Ped

es accept r
ree to ensu
ess of sha

eir organisa

s 

r Rachael Bla

chton 

rell 

nnelly 

ps 

orley 

fat 

derson 

responsibil
ure that the
ring itself i

ation and it

Sign

ake 

ity on beha
eir staff are
s sufficien

ts staff com

nature 

alf of their 
e trained so
t to meet t

mply with a

 

 

 

 

 

 

o that 
he 

all 

 

 

Page 67



Doncast

Teaching

Foundat

Rotherh

Humber

Departm

Pension

Doncast

Commu

 

 

ter & Bassetl

g Hospitals N

tion Trust 

ham, Doncast

r NHS Founda

ment for Wor

s 

ter Voluntary

nity Sector 

 

aw 

NHS 

ter & South 

ation Trust 

rk and 

y & 

Richard Pa

Kathryn S

Sharon Th

 

Paul Tann

arker 

ingh 

horpe 

ney 

 

 

 

 

Page 68


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 17th January 2019 (Attached)
	7 Report from Health and Wellbeing Board Steering Group and Forward Plan
	Item 7 - steering group report HWB Mar 2019
	Item 7 - App A - HWB forward plan 2019 March final

	8 Outcomes Framework - Deep Dive:  Dementia
	9 Outcomes Framework - Deep Dive:  Learning Disability and Autism Strategy
	10 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018
	Item 10 - Public-Health-Annual-Report-2018
	Item 10 - Public-Health-2017-Updates

	11 Health and Care Update
	12 Anti-Poverty Update
	Item 12 - APSG update report
	Item 12 - APSG Update App 1 - 2018 Commitment Statement


	Button 4: 
	Button 5: 
	Button 1: 
	Button 2: 
	Button 3: 


